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St. Frances Methodist Church faces the east side of NC Highway 308 in 
the village of Lewiston, and is situated approximately sixty feet from 
the road on a half-acre lot. Two large trees frame the entrance to 
the church while several other large trees are randomly placed about 
the yard. The churchyard is adjoined on the north and east by private 
residences, and on the south by a vacant lot. 

The rectangular sanctuary, three bays deep and two wide, is covered by 
a pedimented gable roof. Entrance to the church is through a three-bay 
projecting narthex at the west end of the sanctuary. The narthex is 
surmounted by a two-story tower topped by an octagonal steeple covered 
with patterned wooden shingles. The first stage of the tower contains 
one window of nine~over-rrine sash;the second stage has a louvred open­
ing with a pediment on all four sides. The large windows of the sanc­
tuary are of six-over-six sash with lites of frosted glass. The ex­
terior fenestration is trimmed with simple ~ymmetrical molding with 
slightly pointed lintels 

The corners of the buildings are emphasized by paneled pilasters, with 
molded bases and caps, which support a wide three-part architrave around 
the building. Large scrollwork brackets appear in the architrave only 
on the facade of the church and on the tower. 

The interior of the church retains its original Greek Revival woodwork. 
Two door1.vays lead from the narthex into the sanctuary; typical Greek 
Revival doors of two vertical molded panels have surrounds of symmetri­
cal trim with large paneled centerblocks. Above each doorway is a win­
dow, with eight-over-eight sash and original glass, which opens from 
the slave gallery overlooking the sanctuary. 

A high molded baseboard encircles the sanctuary. The windows and doors 
are trimmed with symmetrical fluted molding with plain bases and corner­
blocks; molded panels appear beneath the windows. Three fluted Doric 
columns support the slave gallery with a paneled parapet railing. A 
doorway on the north side of the exterior leads to the enclosed stairway 
of the slave gallery. 

The twenty-one pews, with square paneled ends, are divided into three 
ranges by the two aisles leading from the doorways. The raised pulpit 
is delineated by a senli-circular altar rail with turned balusters ter­
minating at each end with' a heavy turned newel. 

The only apparent changes to the church date from 1966 when the building 
was moved back from the street. At that time the church received a con­
crete block foundation, and the ceiling was lowered approximately two 
feet; acoustical tiles replaced a ceiling of narrow beaded sheathing. 
The frosted glass of the windows was installed at some undetermine~ time. 
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St. Frances Methodist Church was organized and built in 1845. Originally 
located in Woodville on land donated by Humphrey H. Hardy, the church was 
moved a short distance to Lewiston in 1896. The church was named 
honor of Mrs. Frances S. Pugh of Woodville, who willed $1,000 for the 
construction of the church. According to one local source, the contractor 
for the building was Thomas Bragg, a well-known antebellum builder from 
Warrenton, North Carolina. The exterior of the church features a pro­
jecting narthex with a two-stage tower and octagonal steeple, and is 
trimmed with scrollwork brackets. Handsomely detailed Greek Revival 
woodwork distinguishes the interior, with fluted Doric columns support­
ing a slave gallery. The original pews, pulpit furniture, and organ are 
still in place. 

Criteria: 

A. Associated with the protestant religious life and customs of a 
small antebellum plantation community of eastern Nort~ Carolina.' 

C. Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a church structure built 
to accornodate the needs of the protestant Methodist denomination 
which flourished in eastern North Carolina. The church is also a 
handsome and well-detailed example of Greek Revival architecture 
as built by Warren County builder Thomas Bragg 

D. Is likely to yield information important in lbcal religious history. 
'! 
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St. Frances Methodist Episcopal Church was organized in 1845 with forty-· 
six members,

1
many coming from the membership of the Robbins Chapel Metho-

dist Church. Robbins Chapel was located about four miles from the 
villages of Hotel and Turner's Crossroads, now known as Woodville and 
Lewiston, respectively. The residents of those villages desired a more 
conveniently located church, so the congregation sold the Robbins Chapel 
structure to a black congregation and organized a new church.2 In Septem­
ber, 1845, Humphrey H. Hardy of Woodville, being "desirous of promoting 
the cause of Religion among the Citizens of the County . . and in parti-
cularly among those residing near him,'' deede~ to the chu~ch tr~stees 
three acres of land on the road between Woodv1.lle and Lew1ston. Hardy's 
deed stipulated that the trustees "shall erect and build -- or cause to 
be erected and built -- thereon a house or place of Worship for the use 
of the members of the Methodist Episcopal Church, South, r'r4 The new 
church building was made possible when Mrs. Frances S. Pugh of Woodville 
willed $1,000 to Humphrey H. Hardy and Thomas J. P. Smallwood, trustees, 
for the erection of "a church of worship of ~lmighty God according to 
the form of the Methodist Episcopal Church." Mrs. Pugh also left $500 
for a parsonage for the circuit minister, but this was located in Hert­
ford County.6 The newly organized church was named St. Frances in honor 
of Mrs. Pugh. 

According to the memoirs written in 1894 by Dr. Charles Smallwood, a 
charter member of the church, St. Frances was built by Thomas Bragg. 7 
Bragg was a succes~ful and well-known Warren County builder during the 
antebellum period.' Bragg's building activities were evidently far­
reaching; in addition to his Bertie County work, it is known that he was 
involved in the construction of the North Carolina Capital in Raleigh 
in the 1830s. 

The congregation of St. Frances and its handsome church building sur-
·vived the Civil War and Reconstruction period and prospered. In 1896, 
after much debate among the members, the churc~ was moved three-quarters 
of a mile from its Woodville site to Lewiston. The Lewiston members, 
who outnumbered the Woodville members, felt the church would be a more 
effective organization if located in their communityi The half-acre 
lot in Lewiston was purchased from Mr. A. T. Eason. 0 The church ceme­
tery was maintained at the original church site in Woodville.ll 

In 1966 the church was mdved back from the street on its lot about 
twenty feet. Funds from the Duke Foundation were used to put the church 
into thorough repair. With an active membership of only nine, services 
are held in the church once a month. The original Gothic Revival pulpit 
furniture and altar rail, the pump organ purchased in 1866, and the origi1ial 
pews, are still in use. 
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St. Frances survives today as the finest and best preserved church 
building in Bertie County. Although the exterior exhibits traces of the 
Italianate style, the interior is perhaps the most sophisticated example 
of Greek Revival architecture in the county. This quality of work may 
be explained by the attribution of Thomas Bragg as the builder; as a 
skillful and well-known regional builder, Bragg could provide a design 
of greater stylistic sophisticat on than could the local Bertie County 
building community. 

The structure is, of course, closely related to the surrounding environ­
ment. Archeological remains, such as trash pits, wells, and structural 
remains, which may be present, can provide information valuable to the 
understanding and interpretation of the structure. Information concern­
ing use patterns, social standing and mobility, as well as sttuctural 
details are often only evident in the archeological record. Therefore, 
archeological remains may well be an important component of the signifi­
cance of the structure. At this time no investigation has been done to 
discover these remains, but it is probable that they exist, and this 
should be considered in any development of the property. 

Footnotes 

lD. d I 1ane Haggar , 'St. Frances Methodist Episcopal Church and 
Cemetery," 1976, p. 1, unpublished manuscript in the possession of 
Mrs. Ray Widmer, Lewiston, hereinafter cited as Hoggard, "St. Frances." 
Mrs. Widmer, the guardian angel of St. Frances, has collected much 
material on the church which she has shared with the author. Mrs. 
Widmer received much of her information from Miss Mary Grant Spivey 
who held poss~ssion of the origin 1 church records. At Miss Spivey's 
death, the records were destroy Xerox copies of Mrs. Widmer's 
material can be found in the file on St. Frances, Survey and Planning 
Branch, Division of Archives and History, Raleigh. 

2Hoggard, "St. Frances," p. 1; Robbins Chapel is now Mt. Olive 
Baptist Church. 

3 
Humphrey H. Hardy to Charles W. Jacocks, et al, 23 Sept. 1845, 

Bertie County Deeds, Office of the Register of Deeds, Bertie County 
Courthouse, Windsor Book GG, 301, hereinafter cited as Bertie County 
Deeds. 
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4 
Humphrey H. Hardy to Charles W. Jacocks, et al, 23 Sept. 1845, 

Bertie County Deeds, Book GG, 301. 

5will of Mrs. Frances S. Pugh~ 28 Dec: 1843, probated Feb. 1845, 
Bertie County Wills, Office of the Clerk of Court, Bertie County 
Courthouse, Windsor, Book G, 376, hereinafter cited as Bertie County 
Wills. 

6will of Mrs. Frances S. Pugh, Bertie County Wills, Book G, 376; 
the trustees named in Mrs. Pugh's will purchased a house for a parsonage 
in 1848 in Harrellsville, Hertford County, which still stands. See 
Humphrey H. Hardy and Thomas J. P. Smallwood to William D. Pruden, 
et al, 24 July 1850, Bertie County Deeds, Book 86, 501. 

7"Woodville: Some Early Recollections," (Windsor) Bertie Ledger­
Adval!-ce, 28 September 1972. 

8Bragg was also the father of Gen. Braxton Bragg, C. S. A., John 
Bragg, U. S. congressman from Alabama, and Thomas Bragg, governor of 
North Carolina, U. S. senator from North Carolina, and Attorney General 
of the Confederacy. See WilliamS. Powell, ed., The Dictionary of 
North Carolina Biography (Chapel Hill: The UniverSity 61' North Carolina 
Press, 1979). 

9 Hoggard, "St. Frances," p. 3. 

10 
A. T. Eason to J. M. Ballance, et al, 10 Feb. 1896, Bertie 

County Deeds, Book 87, 185. 

11 ld b . . l f f The o est tom stone now rema1n1ng cates rom 1852; -or a 
compilation of the cemetery records, see Hoggard, "St. Frances," pp. 6-10. 
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